RECEIVED

02-26-2016

STATE OF WISCONSIN

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT III

Appeal No. 2015AP002555

State of Wisconsin

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

Steven J. Schaefer,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal From A Judgment of the Circuit Court For Forest County, Case No. 15-CM-88 Honorable Leon D. Stenz, Presiding

Brief of Appellant

KENNEDY LAW OFFICE Robert A. Kennedy, Jr. Attorney for Appellant State Bar No. 1009177 209 E. Madison Street Crandon, WI 54520 (715)478-3386

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED

I. Is the exercise of a treaty right to domestic firewood through a wood chute installed by tribal housing relevant to determining the use of the location associated with the wood chute?

Answered "No" by the Circuit Court.

II. If so, does the scope of the license allowed third party firewood deliveries create an implied invitation to the general public to also have access to that location associated with the wood chute?

Answered "Yes" by the Circuit Court.

- III. If not, does the absence of a door bell and continued paved approach to the side door constitute a material distinction from the front door to the extent of limiting implied access to the home initially to the front door?

 Answered "No" by the Circuit Court.
- IV. If so, was the decision denying curtilage erroneous in that the Circuit Court failed to recognize the tribe

distinguished between permission to invitees, as opposed to the general public concerning the gravel driveway offshoot? Not answered by the Circuit Court.

V. If so, would a home occupant, sitting in his motor vehicle in the curtilage, be subject to implied permission of law enforcement to access that location, given the occupant was surprised by law enforcement while listening to music?

Answered "Yes" by the Circuit Court.

- VI. If not, should defendant's suppression motion have been granted based upon an unreasonable search in violation of the Fourth Amendment that occurred when law enforcement crossed the termination of the paved driveway?

 Answered "No" by the Circuit Court.
- VII. Was the failure of the defendant to appear in Court on June 12, 2015 mitigated or explained by a traffic

citation returnable July 5, 2015, such that the \$1,000 bond forfeiture is an erroneous exercise of discretion?

Not answered by the Circuit Court.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Oral argument and publication are not necessary.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

NATURE OF APPEAL

This is an appeal form the final judgment of the Circuit Court of Forest County, Hon. Leon D. Stenz, presiding which entered a judgment of conviction for operating while intoxicated as a fourth offence. This a misdemeanor conviction obtained through a guilty plea entered with reservation of rights to appeal the suppression decision. §971.31(10). This appeal also challenges an oral decision refusing to vacate the forfeiture of a \$1000 cash bond. Since the oral decision was not reduced to writing the final appeal also includes this issue. §809.10(4).

Mr. Schaefer disputes the Circuit Court's denial of his suppression motion. If successful, the judgment of conviction must be reversed with directions to exclude all evidence obtained by law enforcement once Officer Christopher Tanner stepped across the termination of the paved driveway.

Schaefer will first show the dirt offshoot from the paved driveway to the side door where he was parked was within the curtilage. The exercise of a treaty right to

domestic firewood through a wood chute located next to the dirt offshoot should be a factor in determining the use of that property.

The Circuit Court failed to recognize the distinction between the scope of a license for the general public to approach a home; as opposed to a distinct and limited license for invitees. The driveway offshoot, wood chute, and side door represented a license for invitees and not the general public, based upon tribal self-determination.

Officer Christopher Tanner became a trespasser the moment he stepped from the end of the blacktop pavement onto the curtilage. Since Mr. Scahefer was unaware of the presence of law enforcement and he was exercising his First Amendment right to listen to music. The state cannot establish implied permission to approach the parked vehicle.

The defendant is not a flight risk and did not prolong the proceedings. The \$1000 bond forfeiture should be reversed and the \$1000 refunded to the person who posted it.

THE INITIAL COURT PROCEEDINGS

This offense took place Sunday night May 31, 2015.

(1-1) On June 1, 2015 bond was set at \$1000 cash. (1-2)

On June 1, 2015 Schaefer signed a cash bond for \$1000 (2).

This money was actually posted by Ronald Landru (3). The bond had an appearance date of June 12, 2015 at 9:30 AM.

The defendant also received a traffic citation (26- ex2).

The citation was served in person May 31, 2015. This was a mandatory appearance with a Court date of July 8, 2015 at 9:00 AM. The traffic citation specified the charge was OWI Fourth. The bond, however, did not state what the charge was.

The criminal complaint was filed June 12, 2015 (4). This document was never mailed to Mr. Schaefer. On June 12, 2015 a warrant was issued for his arrest (6). The State requested forfeiture of the \$1000 bond and bench warrant body or \$1,500 at the initial appearance (60-2). A notice of bond forfeiture as mailed June 12, 2015 (5).

Two days before the initial appearance date for the traffic citation the bench warrant was cancelled on July 6, 2015. (7) The case was scheduled for July 8, 2015. (8) Steven Schaefer remained in jail until July 15, 2015. (59-7;11-13). (11)

On July 8, 2015 bond was set at \$1,500 cash. (61-5;17) (11). The \$1000 was still being forfeited (61-5;20-21). The state had filed an amended complaint (9). Further proceedings were scheduled for July 15, 2015. (61-6;4-5) (10).

On July 15, 2015 the Public defender was relieved from representation. (59-2;15-23). The oral objection to bond forfeiture was allowed. (59-4;23-5;1). Bond was changed to a \$4000 signature bond. (59-7;11) (12). Further proceedings were scheduled for September 9, 2015 (13).

The further proceedings would address two issues.

Defendant moved for dismissal (20) based upon Fourth

Amendment grounds. The memorandum asserted Schaefer was initially contacted by law enforcement within the curtilage (21-2). Native American treaty rights included firewood for the home. The wood chute for the firewood represented Native American self-determination since housing is a core issue of tribal government (21-4).

Defendant heavily relied upon Oregon case law concerning the fine distinction as to doorbells. (21-7). Furthermore, Schaefer asserted he was exercising his First Amendment right to listen to music. (21-8). In defendant's view, the curtilage stopped at the end of the

blacktop driveway and a trespass occurred for Fourth

Amendment purposes when law enforcement approached the

parked vehicle while Schafer was listening to music. (218).

Defendant also opposed the bond forfeiture. The small type in the bond (2) did not meet readability standards of INS 6.07(4)(8) 2. The prominence of the Court date in the traffic citation (18-3) is another factor justifying return of the \$1000.

THE EVIDENTIARY HEARING CONCERNING SUPRESSION

Defense counsel initially framed the issues as whether the location of the parked vehicle was within the curtilage. (54-5:20-24). If so, the second question would be whether or not law enforcement was a trespasser when entering the curtilage. This would depend if there was implied permission for law enforcement to approach the parked vehicle. (54-5:25-6:12).

The house has two doors. The vehicle was parked next to the side door. (54-7:3-5). Defense counsel argued the State must show the same implied permission to approach the front door must also apply to the side door. (54-7:13-18).

Defense counsel argued there was a distinction recognized by Oregon which involved the use of a doorbell. (54-8:7-8).

The Court's initial view of the case was driveways can be both gravel and blacktop. For that reason, the driveway continued past the edge of the blacktop. (54-7:19-8:19). The Court felt the driveway was in the curtilage. (54-8:16-19). If someone could continue to drive from the blacktop onto the dirt offshoot, the Court would construe both the blacktop and dirt as one continuous driveway. (54-11:18-21). The Court believed there was an implied invitation to any member of the public to continue to drive on the dirt portion. (54-11:4-7).

Prior to the taking of testimony the defense request for judicial notice of the U.S. District Court ruling at 653 F. Supp. 1420 was rejected. (54-13:4-14:8). The Court held that decision irrelevant.

The defense had emphasized this 1987 decision had construed the treaty between the U.S. Government and the predecessor to the local Indian reservation as granting rights to use firewood for the house. (21-4). The firewood use represented an exercise of tribal self-determination which by definition was a factor in land use

related to use connected with the home. (21-5).

Should Mr. Schaefer be found to have parked in the curtilage that raises the question of implied permission for law enforcement to be there nonetheless. (54-9:23-10:1). Whether there was implied permission to approach the side door, as an equal option to the front door, in defendant's view was related to the lack of a doorbell. (54-9:11-13). The Court was unpersuaded the doorbell was relevant. (54-9:14-19).

Normally the State would provide the first witness since the burden of proof is on the State. Instead, the Court required the defense to proceed initially. (54-10:13-16). (54-12:11-12). The first witness was Thomas Kirby, who worked for Sokaogon Chippewa housing for three and a half years. (54-15:2-15).

Kirby explained the blueprints for the house had a wood chute (54-21:4-6) and a doorbell on the front door (54-22:1-4); but no doorbell on the side door. (54-22:22-24). Kirby also explained a map of housing units in that area (54-23:6-11). Kirby specified the driveway ends at the front corner of the house and the wood chute is past the driveway. (54-23:22-24:4). Finally, Kirby explained

there is no sidewalk that goes to the side door, but there is a sidewalk that comes from the end of the driveway to the front door. 54-24:5-14).

Cross examination asked how often Kirby visited the house (54-25:12-16). It is possible to drive beyond the paved portion. (54-27:21-23). Wood deliveries would go beyond the paved portion (54-28:18-23). Kirby has seen people parked past the blacktop, however those people were visitors. Normally Vanessa Tuckwab parks by the side door. (54-29:2-30:1). Mr. Kirby also explained snowplowing included the side door area. (54-29:6-10).

Redirect examination asked if a stranger was ever seen parked by the side door. Kirby could not recall. (54-30:7-12).

The Court began to question Thomas Kirby. Kirby described those others who park by the side door as "people visiting them." (54-30:23-25). The snowplowing is related to freeze up in the water lines. (54-31:3-15).

The second defense witness was Vanessa Tuckwab. She has been the original tenant for the last twenty-six (26) years and is on an annual lease. (54-32:7-23) This witness provided information about fourteen (14) photographs to the

house. (54-33:23-25). This information included use of a picnic table and grill (54-34:11-14). She walks back and forth between the side door and the shed. (54-36:9-13).

There is a concrete pathway that goes from the blacktop driveway to the front of the house. (54-8:3-17). The side door has no doorbell but the front door does. (54-38:20-23). Steve Schaefer has lived in the house for fifteen (15) years. (54-44:2-4).

On cross examination she explained she and Steve normally park by the side door. (54-45:14-24). Usually people come to the front and ring the doorbell. Otherwise family members come to the side door. (54-47:14-18). Most people stop where the pavement stops. Otherwise relatives use the side door. (54-48:4-14). The dirt portion is used for private parking. (54-49:6). People have walked by and said hi, usually from the public sidewalk running parallel to the highway. (54-50:4-18).

Redirect examination pointed out a gate at the end of the blacktop driveway would make wood deliveries more difficult. (54-51:8-13).

The Court questioned Vanessa Tuckwab about heating with LP. The LP tank is behind the side door and snow is plowed to the LP tank. (54-52:4-6). The tank is filled

every two months in the winter time. (54-52:7-21).

Vanessa also purchases firewood. The delivery is to the wood chute. (54-53:3-11).

The next witness was Steven Schaefer. The household has one vehicle which is parked on the dirt. A motion light dissuades vandalism and they do not block the sidewalk to the front door. (54-55:4-16). The suggestion a gate be installed to assert privacy is unrealistic because the tribe would have to approve it and tribal snowplowing would become more difficult. (54-55:17-56:3). Schaefer also made his sketch with measurements of the property layout. (54-56:20-21) (26-Ex9).

Schaefer explained the night of his arrest he was listening to music in his vehicle and the music did not bother anybody else. (54-59:10-20). Mr. Schaefer was listening to the music when law enforcement walked up to him. At all times between being first contacted by law enforcement and being placed under arrest Mr. Schaefer was always on the dirt and never on the blacktop. (54-60:19-24). The Circuit Court misinterpreted the focus of the question to include Mr. Schaefer driving from the bar to his home. The purpose of the question was to ensure the

curtilage at all times applied since law enforcement stepped off the blacktop. Instead, the Court asked Mr. Schaefer "you flew there?" (54-60:25-61-6).

Defense counsel objected as to the Court's question if Schaefer drove to his home. (54-61:10). Defense counsel's objection to the Court's question based upon Rule 901.04(4) was overruled. (54-61:12-62:9). The final question asked when the first time defendant had any knowledge law enforcement was on his property. The answer was when the officer walked up to his vehicle. (54-64:5).

On cross examination people come to the picnic table if they are invited. (54-66:2-4).

On redirect examination it was emphasized planting bushes at the end of the driveway as the State suggested would interfere with snowplowing. (54-69:1-3).

The final witness was Christopher Tanner. Tanner investigated a complaint about potential harassment. (54-71:1-4). He went to the Steve Schaefer residence and parked on the asphalt portion of the driveway. (54-71:16-19).

On cross examination Tanner was on the gravel portion approaching the drivers side of the vehicle when he first found out who was in the vehicle. (54-73:25-74:5).

Testimony was closed.

THE ORAL SUPPRESSION HEARING

The defense oral argument emphasized to be curtilaged involved short distances to the house. (54-75:4-11) The firewood shoot relates to treaty rights. (54-74:24-75:3). The more involved question would be whether or not law enforcement was a trespasser in the curtilage.

Use of the front door is unhelpful to law enforcement. However substituting the side door would overcome the curtilage. Whether only the front door can be the initial starting point is subject to debate. (54-76:6-12). The Oregon case law was relied upon to downgrade the side door compared to the front door due to lack of a doorbell and paved approach. (54-77:3-78:15)

The <u>Jardines</u> decision provides an option not previously available under <u>Katz</u>. (54-76:2-5). <u>Jardines</u> is the authority for suppression based upon trespassing prior to searching. (54-76:22-77:2).

The State argued the blacktop and dirt offshoot

constitute one driveway. (54-70:20-25). The State also alleged the dirt driveway was the exact width of the asphalt portion, and someone could drive on both (54-80:1-12).

The State further argued since the driveway is used for access to the side door, it also provides access to the public. (54-80:20-81:2). Vanessa Tuckwab and Steve Schaefer should have done their own snowplowing and delivered their own firewood to keep the dirt portion private. Instead they invite others to do business for them. Therefore it is open to the public. (54-81:6-15).

The Court's oral decision denied <u>Katz</u> applied and limited the issue to trespass under <u>Jardines</u>. (54-81:24-82:8). The Court reviewed the testimony concerning use of the driveway where the blacktop stops and the dirt begins. (54-83:3-11). The Court considered the gravel portion a parking lot and Mr. Kirby indicated he has seen visitors there. Extra plowing was done to give more access to the gravel area. (54-83:12-20). The Oregon authority as applied to dividing the access route between public followed by a private segment was not followed. The main reason was the potential differences between the Oregon and

the Wisconsin Constitutions. (54-84:5-10).

The Court proceeded to determine the initial question to locate the curtilage based upon the four <u>Dunn</u> factors.

The first issue, proximity, went to the defense. (54-85:3-8).

The second factor, visibility, was in favor of the State because Schaefer's vehicle could be seen from the highway. (54-85:9-12).

The third factor as to property use was not related to the wood chute because vendors had access thereto. The Court determined the use was a parking area and a driveway. (54-85:13-86:2).

The fourth factor is steps taken to increase privacy. There were none, and the picnic table was distinguished from the parking spot. The difference was it did not appear the parking spot was used for any of the intimate activities related to the house. (54-86:3-17).

The Court determined the parking spot was not within the curtilage. (54-87:10-16). The Court further

determined even if it was curtilage law enforcement restricted themselves to the area that was impliedly open to anybody coming there to use that driveway. (54-87:17-88:6).

POST HEARING EVENTS

Defense counsel took steps to address the scope of the license granted to firewood vendors in comparison to the scope of the license in favor of the public generally. The Court appeared to view the firewood vendors as waiving the privacy of Vanessa Tuckwab for all purposes. Instead, Schaefer argues buying the firewood, and for that matter LP gas and snowplowing to reach the LP tank, created only a limited license. Purchasing firewood and LP does not constitute an implied invitation to the general public.

On October 13, 2015 defense counsel filed information from Case No. 14-CR-2040-LRR in the United States District Court for the Northern District of Iowa, Eastern Division, United States of America vs. Jeremy Daniel Conerd. (35)

One of the questions in that case is the same as the case at bar. There was an electric meter on a side of the house, clearly visible from the street. (35-3,4). The

United States argued the side yard next to the meter was not curtilage because the utility company inspected the meter once per month. Access by the utility company brought with it implied access to the public as a whole. (35-18,19).

On July 28, 2015 United States District Judge Linda R. Reade issued an order which not only found the side-yard to be curtilage but rejected the government's argument concerning the utility meter. (35-19). A memorandum was filed October 23, 2015 (36) with respect staying the forthcoming sentence. One of the reasons to stay the sentence was the ruling in Conerd. (36-2).

The <u>Conerd</u> decision would not be given any weight. (62-31:2-5).

SENTENCING

The Court scheduled sentencing for November 19, 2015.

- (32). The defendant moved for a stay pending appeal.
- (37). The Court sentenced the defendant to a fine of \$2,185; restitution of \$35; 100 days in jail; 30 month

license revocation followed by a thirty month IID interval all within a withheld sentence with two years probation. (62-18:2-20:14).

Defendant promptly moved for a stay pending appeal.

(62-21:21-22). Defense counsel argued the power of a court to stay pending appeal overcomes the immediate mandatory incarceration for this type of offense. (62-27:3-26).

The motion for stay was denied (62-29:14-32:3).

EVIDENTIARY HEARING-BOND FORFEITURE

The Court also conducted an evidentiary hearing concerning the \$1000 bond forfeiture on September 9, 2015. (54-89:9-10). Steven Schaefer testified he had a hard time reading the actual bond form. (54-91:3-5). He missed the Court date because the traffic citation was posted on the wall at home and he thought the court date was July 8, 2015. (54-91:14-18). He did not intentionally fail to come to court. He did not know he had to be in court on June 12, 2015. (54-92:2-5).

On cross examination Schaefer said he did not come to

court because of the traffic citation. (54-93:25-94:7).

The Court did not consider INS 6.07(4)(a)2 relevant (54-94:17). Defense counsel argued consistent with the memorandum. (18) The State alleged there should not have been any confusion on Schaefer's part. (54-95:15-21).

The Court confirmed the forfeiture. (54-96:5). The defendant could have appeared. (54-96:10-13). The defendant could have gone to both court dates so there was no misunderstanding. (54-97:1-5). There was never a written order refusing to forfeit the bond.

The judgment of conviction was filed November 23, 2015 (47).

STATEMENT OF FACTS- INVESTIGATION AND ARREST

On May 31, 2015 at approximately 10:04 PM the Forest County Sheriff's department received a telephone call from George Tuckwab. Tuckwab stated Steven Schaefer was at Junior's Saloon calling his mother Myra Pitts vulgar names. Furthermore, Schaefer was intoxicated, and left in a white Ford Explorer headed toward the Vanessa Tuckwab residence. Vanessa Tuckwab lived at 3170 Highway 55. (4-3)

Dispatch contacted Officer Tanner, who began looking for the suspect vehicle. He already knew where Mr.

Schaefer lived. (54-70:21-25). Officer Tanner observed a vehicle running with its headlights on and playing music located on the gravel area next to the house. (54-71:5-15). Instead of a Ford Explorer, the vehicle was actually a 1994 Chevrolet. (26-Ex2). Tanner believes it was an Explorer. (54-73:16-24).

Officer Tanner did not follow the Schaefer vehicle as it entered the driveway. Schaefer was already parked by the time Officer Tanner had turned his squad car around to park in the driveway. (4-3). Officer Tanner parked the squad car on the blacktop driveway. (54-71:16-19). Steven Schaefer was parked on the gravel. (54-74:3-5).

Steven Schaefer had no knowledge law enforcement was on the property until Officer Tanner walked up to his vehicle. (54-64:2-5). Tanner did not know who was driving the vehicle until he approached the driver's side. (54-73:25-74:2). Thereafter Tanner proceeded to process an OWI arrest. (4-4-6). The entire process from initially contacting Mr. Schaefer to his arrest all occurred on the gravel. (54-60:8-24).

Mr. Schaefer's music was not bothering anyone. (54-59:19-20). He was not inside because he was listening to music and it was a nice night. (54-59:15-18). This included bringing Mr. Schaefer into the house before making the formal arrest. (54-63:7-17). At no time did Schaefer give law enforcement permission to be on his property. (54-63:24-64:1).

USE OF THE PROPERTY

The home at 3170 State Highway 55 is located within a Native American community known as Sokaogon Chippewa Community. (26-Ex5). The home was built around 1989.

Vanessa Tuckwab was the original occupant and has lived there for twenty-six (26) years. (54-32:5-14). She has annual lease renewals. The last renewal specified Steve Schaefer was a member of the household. (26-Ex2-3). Steve Schaefer has lived with Vanessa Tuckwab for fourteen years. (54-54:20-22).

There is only one vehicle which Vanessa and Steve have. This vehicle is parked on the gravel next to the side door. There is a motion light that helps protect the car. (54-54:23-55:8). There is a blacktop driveway that

runs from Highway 55 to the corner of the house. This driveway is approximately 79 feet long. (26-Ex9). There is a continued 27 foot long gravel segment running along the side of the house where Vanessa and Steven park their vehicle. (26-Ex9).

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