### **RECEIVED**

### **STATE OF WISCONSIN07-18-2016**

## COURT OF APPEALS CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

### **DISTRICT III**

\_\_\_\_\_

Case No. 2015AP002555

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff - Respondent,

v.

STEVEN J. SCHAEFER,

**Defendant – Appellant,** 

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND AN ORDER DENYING SUPPRESSION OF EVIDNENCE IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF FOREST COUNTY, THE HONORABLE LEON D. STENZ, PRESIDING

### RESPONSE BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF PLAINTIFF – RESPONDENT

CHARLES J. SIMONO Forest County District Attorney State Bar No. 1030774

Forest County Courthouse 200 E. Madison Ave Crandon, Wisconsin 54520 Office: (715) 478 – 3511

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

### **ARGUMENT**

I. UNDER WISCONSIN CASE LAW, THE POLICE, OPERATING WITH LEGITIMATE BUSINESS, MAY ENTER THE AREAS OF THE CURTILAGE WHICH ARE IMPLIEDLY OPEN TO USE BY THE PUBLIC INCLUDING DRIVEWAYS.

The Wisconsin Court of Appeals, through their ruling under State v. Dickenson, 364 Wis.2d 760: 869 N.W.2d 171(2015) address a defendant's challenge to privacy and trespass by law enforcement. The Dickenson case involves a law enforcement investigation of an accident. The contention within the case surrounds the fact that the investigating officer walked down the driveway of the defendant, which by the facts is determined to extend two car lengths beyond the house so as to allow plain view of the backyard. The officer remained within the driveway while making contact with two occupants on the deck connected to the home at which time one of the occupants identified themselves as being the named person the officer was seeking as part of his investigation. The suspect was ultimately charged with Operating While Intoxicated second offense. The defendant appealed asserting that she had an expectation of privacy as she was within a protected and private area of the curtilage of the home. Dickenson court agreed that the location in which the defendant was located, which was upon the deck, was in fact part of the curtilage and an apparent effort to be less open to the public as it was on the back side of the home. However, the Dickenson court also noted that the driveway, being adjacent to the home was not closed off and was open to the public. The court specifically noted that the officer walked completely down the driveway unimpeded. The nature and use of the area where Officer was standing was that it was a driveway that would be used for ingress and egress to the front, side, and rear areas of the property by anyone living at or visiting the home, and the driveway continued past the back end area of the home toward a detached garage about two cars lengths farther up the driveway. The <u>Dickenson</u> court held that the driveway was an access point to the property and an area that could be readily utilized by visitors. It directly abutted the city street and was not, as a whole, a constitutionally protected area and therefore the officer was not trespassing by standing where he stood on the driveway when he observed the defendant.

The <u>Dickenson</u> court, in reaching their decision, noted that Police with legitimate business may enter the areas of the curtilage which are impliedly open to use by the public and in doing so are free to keep their eyes open. (citing 1 WAYNE R. LAFAVE, SEARCH AND SEIZURE § 2.3(c) at 393 (2d ed.1987) (quoting <u>State v. Crea</u>, 233 N.W.2d 736, 739 (Minn.1975))). The <u>Dickenson</u> court further noted that "[T]he curtilage is the area that encompasses the intimate activities associated with the sanctity of the home and the privacies of life." Citing United States v. French, 291 F.3d 945, 951 (7th Cir.2002).

The case at hand, although somewhat different from <u>Dickenson</u> in regards to the geographic location of driveways and respective defendants, is on point with the issues that must be decided regarding Steven Schaefer's appeal.

Similar to the officer in Dickenson, Forest County Deputy Tanner walked

down the Steven Schaefer's driveway. Deputy Tanner remained within the driveway while making contact Steven Schaefer, being the named person he was seeking as part of his investigation. Both Deputy Tanner and Steven Schaefer indicated that the two were always within the driveway during the law enforcement contact and arrest. Additionally, Deputy Tanner noted that Steven Schaefer was not only in the driveway but was also behind the wheel of his vehicle that was still running and had the lights on. Deputy Tanner, just as in the Dickenson case, arrested his suspect and ultimately charged Steven Schaefer with Operating While Intoxicated fourth offense.

Unlike the <u>Dickenson</u> case, the Steven Schaefer was not within any protected area giving rise to an expectation of privacy as he was not within a protected and private area. However, Steven Schaefer was located within his driveway, being adjacent to the home was not closed off and was open to the public. Deputy Tanner, just as the officer in <u>Dickenson</u>, walked down the driveway with legitimate business of investigating an harassment complaint and in doing so remained within the driveway that would be used for ingress and egress to the front and side areas of the Steven Schaefer property by anyone living at or visiting the home. The facts presented under the appeal by Steven Schaefer are consistent with those in <u>Dickenson</u> and that his driveway is an access point to the property and an area that could be readily utilized by visitors. The driveway directly abutted the State Hwy 55 and was not, as a whole, a constitutionally protected area and therefore Deputy Tanner was not trespassing by standing where he stood on the

driveway when he observed the Steven Schaefer.

Based on the above listed reasons, the State hereby respectfully requests that the defendant's appeal be denied in its entirety and that the Court sustain the circuit court's ruling.

### **THE DUNN FACTORS:**

The State is aware of the United Supreme Court's ruling under <u>United States v. Dunn</u>, 107 S.Ct. 1134; 480 U.S. 294 (1987) and how the Court addressed issues surrounding curtilage challenges. The Dunn Court specifically listed four factors when determining if there has been an infringement into a curtilage and right to privacy. The defendant, although not providing a cite to <u>United States v. Dunn</u>, does in fact reference the "Dunn Factors" commencing on page thirty-four (34) of his brief.

The factors as delineated by the Supreme Court are as follows:

- (1) the proximity of the area to the home;
- (2) whether the area is within an enclosure surrounding the home;
- (3) the nature and uses to which the area is put; and
- (4) the steps taken by the resident to protect the area from observation by passersby.

<u>United States v. Dunn</u>, 107 S.Ct. 1134, 1135 (1989).

In reference to the factors as delineated by the <u>Dunn</u> court, the State through argument and stated facts listed above, and incorporated herein, has demonstrated

that the driveway is directly next to the Steven Schaefer residence. However, the driveway is not within any enclosure nor is there any signage to signify a desire for privacy. The defendant makes issue with regards to a shed and a picnic table asserting a side-yard protection. Based on the testimony received from Vanessa Tuckwab and Steven Schaeffer, the shed is at the end of the driveway and is not used for parking purposes. The picnic table area is off to the left of the driveway and is further from the home but remains open to the public whereby people passing by on the road or sidewalk can openly see anyone sitting and could also converse with or approach the picnic table without any impediments. (45: 25 and 50: 1-25 and 51:1) (65:19-25 and 66: 1-22). Lastly, Steven Schaefer and Vanessa Tuckwab have taken no efforts to enclose or privatize the picnic table area nor the driveway as the testimony is clear to the fact that no fences, bushes or signage has ever existed and that anyone can use the driveway including where they park but also can approach the picnic table area in the same manner. (65: 12-25 and 66: 1-22).

The focus of the analysis has always been the area in which Deputy Tanner and Steven Schaefer were located on the night of May 31, 2015, which is the open driveway to the Vanessa Tuckwab residence. The defendant does not deny the open access to the driveway but rather attempts to capture the driveway under some form of an umbrella protection using the picnic table which was further from the home and still open to public view and access.

Based on the above listed reasons, the State hereby respectfully requests that the defendant's appeal be denied in its entirety and that the Court sustain the circuit court's ruling.

# II. UNDER FEDERAL LAW, STEVEN SCHAEFER IS SUBJECT TO THE CRIMINAL JURISDICTION TO THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF WISCONSIN AND IS NOT PROTECTED BY ANY TREATIES.

Under Federal law Pub.L.No. 83-280, 67 Stat. 588, 18 U.S.C. S 1162, 28 U.S.C. s 1360 which is commonly referred to Public Law 280. Through the enactment of Public Law 280, Wisconsin, among other States, was granted jurisdiction over Offenses committed by or against Indians in the areas of Indian County to the same extent that Wisconsin has jurisdiction over offenses committed elsewhere within the State and the criminal laws of Wisconsin shall have the same force and effect within Indian Country as they have elsewhere within the Wisconsin. 18 U.S.C.A. § 1162 (a). The defendant makes argument to a protection that should cover him as well despite no showing by the defendant that he is a Native American and more specifically an enrolled member to the Sokaogon Chippewa Band from Mole Lake Wisconsin. The State contends that even if Steven Schaefer were an enrolled member to the Sokaogon Chippewa Band, the civil regulatory function of administering and enforcing a treaty would not give rise to creating a protection against the State of Wisconsin from enforcing concurrent criminal jurisdiction and application of its Operating While Intoxicated Laws. The Defendant impliedly admits no protection directly for himself as his argument is couched under a protection whereby Vanessa Tuckwab, the leaseholder for the residence, would be the beneficiary to any treaty. (please see defendants brief page 29, last paragraph.)

The State has demonstrated that Steven Schaefer is Caucasian and not a Native American. Please be reminded That which are According to Forest County Sheriff Department Arrest Report Personal Information Sheet for Incident 201500008582 regarding the Arrest of Steven Jack Schaefer being the above listed defendant, it indicates that he Is Caucasian and thus not a tribal member. (Arrest Report Page 1 of 1). Additionally, Citation number T383384-1 issued to Steven Jack Schaefer, date of birth 08/19/1951, states that he is white under the "race" section. (please see defendant's appendix for citation).

The defendant has not established a legal nexus between the treaty assertion for firewood to his non-native status. Moreover, the defendant has not established how the laws of Wisconsin are not applicable to him anywhere within the state of Wisconsin as Public Law 280 applies to acts done by or against Indians within Indian Country.

Based on the above listed reasons, the State hereby respectfully requests that the defendant's appeal be denied in its entirety and that the Court sustain the circuit court's ruling.

### **CONCLUSION**

This Court should determine that the defendant was located within an unprotected, Forest County Deputy Tanner walked down the Steven Schaefer's

driveway. Deputy Tanner remained within the driveway while making contact Steven Schaefer, being the named person he was seeking as part of his investigation. Both Deputy Tanner and Steven Schaefer indicated that the two were always within the driveway during the law enforcement contact and arrest. Additionally, Deputy Tanner noted that Steven Schaefer was not only in the driveway but was also behind the wheel of his vehicle that was still running and had the lights on. Deputy Tanner, just as in the <u>Dickenson</u> case, arrested his suspect and ultimately charged Steven Schaefer with Operating While Intoxicated fourth offense.

Unlike the <u>Dickenson</u> case, the Steven Schaefer was not within any protected area giving rise to an expectation of privacy as he was not within a protected and private area. Specifically that Steven Schaefer was located within his driveway, being adjacent to the home was not closed off and was open to the public and are used for ingress and egress to the front and side areas of the Steven Schaefer property by anyone living at or visiting the home. Deputy Tanner walked down the driveway with legitimate business of investigating an harassment complaint and in doing so remained within the boundaries of the driveway. The driveway directly abutted the State Hwy 55 and was not, as a whole, a constitutionally protected area and therefore Deputy Tanner was not trespassing by standing where he stood on the driveway when he observed the Steven Schaefer. In doing so, this court should sustain the circuit court's previous findings and orders.

The court should further determine that the Defendant's arguments to capture

the driveway under some form of extended umbrella protection through a side-

yard argument and use of the **Dunn** court factors has not established a protection

for the open and publicly accessible driveway where the defendant was

approached for legitimate police business and is not entitled to any relief. In doing

so, this court should sustain the circuit court's previous findings and orders.

Lastly, the Court should determine that the defendant is not entitled to any

treaty protections available to Native Americans, firstly as such rights would not

abdicate the duties and permissions allowed under Public Law 280, but more so

because he is a non-native and is subject to Wisconsin Laws wherever he is

located within the boundaries of the State of Wisconsin. In doing so, this court

should sustain the circuit court's previous findings and orders.